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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), it is my pleasure to present the annual results of Times Ltd. (“Times”

or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, our “Group”) for the year ended 31 December, 2007. The successful

listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in July 2007 not only

marked an important milestone in the development of our Group, but also established a more flexible and strong

financial platform to facilitate the Group’s future development.

With our unique positioning, flexible business model and the favourable economic backdrop in The People’s Republic

of China (“PRC”) and in particular Eastern China, the revenue and profit of our Group both recorded substantial growth

in 2007 over 2006. The Board expects to see continuous and strong economic growth in the PRC, and it takes a very

positive view about the future outlook of Times.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue of our Group for year 2007 was RMB3,382.0 million, compared with RMB2,828.6 million in year 2006. This

represents a 19.6% increase year-on-year. Such strong growth is a function of our well-planned retail outlet expansion

strategy, as well as sustainable same-store-sales growth.

During the year under review, the net profit of our Group has also shown a substantial improvement. Excluding the non-

recurring expenses of RMB21.6 million incurred for the listing of the Company’s shares, the net profit of our Group

increased by 37.0% in 2007 to RMB 106.3 million. The increase was mainly contributed from the increase in operating

profit of core businesses and other operating income like rental income.

The Board recommends a final divided of HK3.18 cents (equivalent to approximately RMB2.98 cents at year end

exchange rate) per share (2006: Nil). The dividend per share represents a payout ratio of 30.8% on net profit for the

year.

INFLATION

Our Group’s operations benefited slightly from the current inflationary environment. On one hand, inflation has a

positive effect on revenue as the unit price of our merchandise has increased. On the other hand, customers are

adjusting their buying behavior to maintain budget. As a result, we could maintain our profit margin with upside potential

for product prices.

SNOWSTORMS

The snowstorms that took place in January 2008 have caused major damage and disruption to a number of provinces,

autonomous regions and municipalities. I am proud to report that our Group continued to provide excellent services

to our customers under such unfavourable weather condition. Credit should be given to our colleagues who have not

only performed outstanding preparatory work but also demonstrated excellent working attitude during the snowstorms.

As a result, the snowstorms have only caused very little disturbance to our operation and the business of our stores

during the Chinese New Year season in 2008 has been very satisfactory.
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Chairman’s Statement Continued

FUTURE

Our Group remains very positive on the outlook of its business into 2008. Despite risks of a more difficult global

economic environment, we believe that growth in domestic demand for consumer staple products in the PRC will

continue to be robust on the back of increasing urbanization and disposable income growth.

To capture this strong demand, our Group is confident that it can sustain a high level of organic growth. Furthermore,

we constantly seek potential value-adding acquisitions that will help us expand market share profitably.

Competition within the hypermarket segment is increasingly intense, however with our Group’s solid market

positioning, focus in 2nd and 3rd tier cities and prudently aggressive expansion plans, we believe that Times will deliver

outstanding value to its shareholders.

Finally on behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express our gratitude to our staff for their dedication and to

our shareholders for their support.

Fang Hung, Kenneth

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2008
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

With the sustained strong growth of the economy in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the consumption power

of the public continued to improve in 2007. There has been continued increase in the per capita disposable income

as well as urbanization rate. The Eastern China region where the Group has focused its operations is one of the most

affluent and fastest-growing regions in PRC. The management believes that the positive business environment

provides great opportunity for the Group to further expand its business.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

The Group’s audited consolidated revenue and profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders for the year ended

31 December 2007 amounted to approximately RMB3,382.0 million (2006: RMB2,828.6 million) and RMB84.7 million

(2006: RMB77.6 million) respectively. The Group’s revenue has increased by 19.6% over of last year. The profit

attributable to the shareholders of RMB84.7 million was arrived at after deducting listing expenses of approximately

RMB21.6 million (2006: Nil). Excluding such non-recurring listing expenses, the profit attributable to the shareholders

was RMB106.3 million representing an increase of 37.0% over last year.

The growth in revenue was mainly attributable to the increasingly number of stores and the overall growth in same store

sales. As at 31 December 2007, the Group operated 58 stores including 41 hypermarkets and 17 supermarkets

occupying a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of 666,388 square meters. This compares with 52 stores including 32

hypermarkets and 20 supermarkets occupying total GFA of 550,812 square meters as at 31 December 2006. For stores

in full operation throughout 2006 and 2007, the average same store growth in sales of 2007 over 2006 was about 6.5%.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, total revenue attributable to hypermarkets amounted to approximately

RMB2,981.5 million (2006: RMB2,410.6 million) and that to supermarkets amounted to approximately RMB400.5

million (2006: RMB418.0 million). The decrease in supermarket revenue contribution mainly resulted from the closure

of 3 retail outlets, this is consistent with the Group’s hypermarket-focused expansion strategy.

The Group recorded a gross profit of RMB555.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2007. This represents an

increase of 20.5% comparing with the gross profit of RMB461.4 million in 2006. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue

for 2007 remained rather stable at 16.4% (2006: 16.3%).

Other income increased by 25.9% from approximately RMB233.4 million in 2006 to approximately RMB293.8 million

in 2007. Such increase was mainly due to the increases of i) approximately RMB18.3 million in promotion income from

RMB92.3 million in 2006 to RMB110.6 million; ii) approximately RMB30.9 million in rental income from leasing of shop

premises from RMB75.6 million in 2006 to RMB106.5 million; and iii) approximately RMB8.8 million in interest income

on bank deposits from RMB1.7 million in 2006 to RMB10.5 million. Promotion income and rental income from leasing

of shop premises in the 2007 increased by 19.8% and 40.9%, respectively, over 2006, reflecting the success of our

promotion activities and the business model of integrating “Shopping Streets” in our hypermarkets and supermarkets.

Increase in interest income on bank deposits was attributable to the deposit of temporarily unutilized funds raised from

the initial public offer of the Company's shares in July 2007 (“IPO”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS Continued

The aggregate of selling and distribution costs plus administration expenses, excluding the one-off listing expenses,

was approximately RMB665.6 million in 2007 (2006: RMB558.8 million). Such expenses as a percentage of revenue

was 19.7% in 2007 which was in line with the 19.8% achieved in 2006. The slight improvement reflects our effective

control over operating expenses.

As a result of debt reduction after the IPO, the finance costs of the Group decreased from RMB17.3 million in 2006

to RMB15.7 million in 2007.

Excluding non-recurring expenses incurred in relation to the listing of the Group, profit attributable to shareholders as

a percentage of revenue improved to 3.1% in 2007 from 2.7% in 2006. This is reflective of the Group’s improved

operational efficiency and healthier capital structure after the IPO.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK3.18 cents (equivalent to approximately

RMB2.98 cents at year end exchange rate) per share, amounted to a total amount of approximately HK$27.8 million

(equivalent to approximately RMB26.0 million). Comparing to the profit attributable to shareholders for the year of

RMB84.7 million the dividend payout ratio is 30.8%.

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFER

On 16 July 2007 the Company was successfully listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The IPO was well received

by investors in both international offering and the Hong Kong public offering. The Hong Kong public offer was over-

subscribed by approximately 37 times. Net proceeds raised from the IPO were approximately HK$960.6 million.

As stated in the Company’s prospectus dated 29 June 2007 (the “Prospectus”), we plan to use the proceeds from the

IPO in the expansion of our retail network, repayment of bank borrowing and for general working capital purposes. As

of the date of this report, we do not anticipate any change to this plan.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group acquired certain properties through purchase of the equity interest of a number of companies during the

year. The details of these acquisitions are set out in Note 34 to the financial statements attached. The principal assets

of the companies acquired are properties which are used as shop premises by the Group. Except for these acquisitions,

the Group did not acquire or dispose of any subsidiaries during the year. Apart from investments in companies holding

properties used exclusively for the Group’s business, the Group did not have other significant investments during the

year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS Continued

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations through internally generated cash flows and bank borrowings. At 31 December

2007, the Group had bank facilities amounted to RMB174.5 million of which RMB30.0 million were utilized. Bank

borrowings were all denominated in Renminbi, repayable within one year and carried average fixed interest rate of

6.4% per annum. The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as a ratio of bank borrowings to total equity, was 2.6% as

at 31 December 2007 (2006: 424.3%). As of 31 December 2007, the Group had net current assets of approximately

RMB118.7 million (2006: net current liabilities of RMB365.0 million). Current ratio as at 31 December 2007 was 1.10

(2006: 0.68). The net cash position of the Group as at 31 December 2007 was approximately RMB491.6 million (2006:

Net debt position of RMB48.5 million). The improvement of the gearing ratio and the current ratio as well as the build-

up of a net cash position are attributable to the funds raised from the IPO.

The Group may borrow from bank and maintain part of its cash balance in Hong Kong dollars. Apart from this, all the

transactions of Group are almost exclusively in Renminbi. The Group will consider appropriate hedging arrangement

to minimize its exposure to fluctuation in exchange rate.

FUTURE PLAN

The Group will continue to focus its business in the affluent and fast-growing Eastern China region of the PRC. We

were generally on track with our retail network expansion plan in 2007 as set out in the Prospectus. However, the

approval from the government relating to the opening of one new hypermarket was delayed, yet that new hypermarket

is now targeted to open in 2nd Quarter 2008. We are also determined to sustain a high level of organic growth by

opening at least an additional 18 hypermarkets by the end of 2009. To this end, we have entered into co-operation

agreements with property developers and owners for the opening of 18 hypermarkets. We are also exploring the

opportunities of acquiring properties for use as our shop premises if it is in the interest of the Group and its shareholders

as a whole. Construction of our 25,610 square meters logistics centre is on track, the first phase of about 13,344 square

meters has already been in use since the end of 2007 and we expect the second phase of about 12,266 square meters

will become operational by the end of 2008. This will further enhance operational efficiency and effectively increase

sales floor utilization at existing retail outlets.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 December 2007, the Group had 10,850 employees (2006: 9,844 employees). The remuneration package for the

Group’s employees is structured by reference to market and industry’s practice. Discretionary bonus and other

performance reward are based on the financial performance of the Group and the performance of individual

employees. In addition, the Company has adopted a share option scheme under which our staff may be granted options

entitling them to subscribe for shares in the Company. In reviewing salary remuneration packages in the future, share

option may be granted to certain members of the management team.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS Continued

CHARGES OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2007, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately RMB4.9 million as security of banking

facilities granted. Except for the above, there were no significant charges or pledges on the Group’s assets.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities. The Group may become involved

in certain legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of operations in the normal course of business. However,

none of these proceedings, individually or in aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial

conditions or result of operations.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth, GBS, CBE, JP, aged 69, is the Chairman of the Company, as well as the director of a number

of wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group. He has been with the Group since its establishment. Mr Fang is responsible

for the making of major strategic and business decisions in respect of the Group including decisions with respect to

investments in new stores, the continuation and closure of existing stores, the geographical expansion of the business

in the various provinces of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), borrowings, annual budgets and financing matters,

senior staff recruitment, liaison with potential investors and market players regarding the possibility of future co-

operation in the PRC and other matters relating to the overall directions of the Group,

Mr Fang is also the Chairman of S C Fang & Sons Company Limited (“Fang & Sons”), the Chairman of Fang Brothers

Knitting Limited and the Chairman of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of

The Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr Fang also serves as an independent non-

executive director of Jiangsu Expressway Company Limited and USI Holdings Limited each being a company listed

on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was awarded the Industrialist of the Year by the Federation of Hong Kong

Industries in 2002. Mr Fang has held key positions in major industrial or commercial associations, such as the

Chairman of the board of directors of the Hong Kong Research Institute of Textile and Apparel, an Honorary Chairman

of the Hong Kong Textile Council and an Honorary President of Hong Kong Woollen and Synthetic Knitting

Manufacturers’ Association.

Mr Fang is a member of the National Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and a member

of the Standing Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Jiangsu Province.

Mr Fang graduated from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, United States of America (“USA”) in 1961 with a

Master’s Degree in Chemical Engineering. He was also conferred an Honorary Degree of Doctor of Business

Administration by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005.

Mr Fang is the father of Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas.

Mr Gao Chunhe, aged 54, is the Vice-chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Jiangsu Times

Supermarket Co Ltd (“Jiangsu Times”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr Gao is also a director of various

wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Gao joined the Group in 1997 and was promoted to Vice-chairman of

Jiangsu Times in 2000. Mr Gao has also been a director of Fang Brothers Investments Limited (“Fang Brothers”). Mr

Gao has experience in public administration and enterprise management and is familiar with the business operating

environment in the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Gao was the general manager of Jiangsu Nantong Second

Cotton Knitting Factory（江蘇省南通第二棉紡織廠）from 1984 to 1994 and the deputy director of Jiangsu Province

Nantong Foreign Trade and Economic Bureau（江蘇省南通巿對外經濟貿易委員會）in 1995. Mr Gao was a recipient

of the National Young Entrepreneur Award（中國全國優秀青年企業家獎） in 1988. Mr Gao obtained a Bachelor’s

Degree in Engineering from Wuxi Institute of Light Industry（無錫輕工業學院） (presently known as Southern Yangtze

University) in 1982.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management Continued

Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas, aged 35, is an executive Director. Mr Fang is also a director of Fang Brothers as well as

Jiangsu Times and a number of wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Fang is responsible for the making of major

strategic and business decisions in respect of the Group including decisions with respect to investments in new stores,

the continuation and closure of existing stores, the geographical expansion of the business in the various provinces

of the PRC, borrowings, annual budgets and financing matters, senior staff recruitment, liaison with potential investors

and market players regarding the possibility of future co-operation in the PRC and other matters relating to the overall

directions of the Group,

Prior to joining Fang Brothers in 1998, Mr Fang worked for Donaldson Lufkin & Jenrette, an investment bank in the

USA. Mr Fang graduated from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1995.

Mr Fang is a son of Fang Hung, Kenneth.

Mr Wong See Leung, aged 50, is an executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer and the Qualified Accountant of

the Company. Mr Wong is also the Finance Director of Fang & Sons and a director of Fang Brothers. He is also a director

of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Wong has extensive experience in retail business by serving as

a director of Jesire Europe Ltd. (with approximately around 40 fashion stores in Europe), a director of Toppy Thailand

Company Limited (with approximately around 20 fashion stores in Thailand) and a director of Halewinner International

Ltd. a retailer of watches in Hong Kong and Shenzhen. Both Jesire Europe Ltd and Toppy Thailand Company Limited

are companies controlled by the controlling shareholders of the Company while the controlling shareholders have

minority stake in Halewinner International Ltd. Prior to joining Fang & Sons and the Group, he was the head of an audit

department at KPMG, an international accounting firm, and had worked in its Hong Kong and USA offices for over 10

years. Mr Wong is a fellow member (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also

a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Chan Wing Kee GBS, OBE, JP, aged 61, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. He has joined

the Group since June 2007. Mr Chan is the managing director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and a director of YGM

Trading Limited (“YGM”), each a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. YGM is a leading marketer

and builder of international apparel brands in Asia which has been actively developing the PRC market for more than

10 years. It has established over 200 retail outlets in the PRC including in major cities such as Beijing, Shanghai and

Guangzhou, while simultaneously expanding its retail network to secondary and tertiary cities. Mr Chan is also a

director of Hong Kong Knitters Limited, non-executive director of China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

and non-executive director of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong Limited.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management Continued

Mr Chan is a Standing Committee Member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, Member of The

Selection Committee of the Hong Kong Speical Administrative Region (“HKSAR”). He was also a Deputy to the 8th and

9th National People’s Congress of China, a member of Hong Kong Affairs Adviser; a committee member of The

Preparatory Committee of HKSAR; a member of Basic Law Consultative Committee both in Hong Kong and Macau;

Ex-Member of the Judicial Officers Recommendation Commission of Hong Kong; Ex-Chairman of Small and Medium

Enterprises Committee of the HKSAR.

Mr Chan is the Permanent Honorary President of Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong; Chairman of

Friends of Hong Kong Association; Vice Chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations;

Honorary Chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong; Honorary President of Federation of Hong Kong Garment

Manufacturers; Honorary Chairman of Hong Kong Shippers’ Council; Life Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber

of Commerce in China/Guangdong; Vice Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community

Organizations; Honorary President of The Unified Association of Kowloon West; Council Chairman of Cheng Si-yuan

(China-International) Hepatitis Research Foundation; Ex-Council Member of Hong Kong Trade Development Council;

Ex-Member of Textile Advisory Board; Member of Economic Council of Macau.

Mr Ting Woo Shou, Kenneth, SBS, JP, aged 65, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. He has

joined the Group since June 2007. Mr Ting currently serves as the Non-executive Director of the Mandatory Provident

Fund Schemes Authority, the Honorary President of Federation of Hong Kong Industries, the Honorary President of

the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Honorary President of the Toys Manufacturers’ Association

of Hong Kong Limited and the President of the Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers’ Association Limited.

He also serves as a member of a number of other trade organisations and public committees such as the Hong Kong

General Chamber of Commerce, the Hong Kong Polytechnic University Court and Hong Kong University of Science

& Technology Court. He also serves as member of the Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference.

Mr Ting has extensive experience in running successful business in the PRC as a director of Kader Holdings Company

Limited ("Kader"), non-executive director of New Island Printing Holdings Limited and Wheelock & Company Limited,

each a company listed on the Stock Exchange, and H.C. Ting’s Holdings Limited. In particular, one of Kader’s major

business segments is toys and plastics manufacturing where it operates comprehensive manufacturing facilities in

Dongguan and exports finished goods to Europe and USA. Mr Ting, as an independent non-executive Director, can

bring to the Group general knowledge in running business in the PRC as well as experience in corporate governance.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management Continued

Mr Lau Yuen Sun, Adrian, aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. He has joined the

Group since June 2007. Mr Lau holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from the University of Windsor, Canada. Mr

Lau has years of experience in banking and investment. Mr Lau had worked for the National Bank of Canada from 1988

to 1996 and he was the vice president of Asia region and the Hong Kong branch manager from September 1994 to

December 1996. Mr Lau had also worked for Bank of America, Citibank N.A. and Westpac Banking Corporation during

the period from 1982 to 1988. Mr Lau is experienced in reviewing and analysing audited financial statements of public

companies. Mr Lau is currently an independent non-executive director of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited, a

company listed on the Stock Exchange. He had also served directorships in Poly Investments Holdings Limited and

139 Holdings Limited (“139 Holdings”), each a company listed on the Stock Exchange. 139 Holdings was principally

engaged in manufacturing, trading and distribution of garments, shoes and other related merchandises since its listing

in 1994. Headquartered in Hong Kong and with the manufacturing operations in the PRC, 139 Holdings was

manufacturer and distributor of a wide range of garment and shoe products under various well known brand names

including “Playboy”, “NBA”, “Arnold Palmer” and “Garfield” through its retail outlets in the PRC and Hong Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Mr Lo Jiann Jong, aged 50, is the general manager of Jiangsu Times, responsible for the overall management of

Jiangsu Times. Mr Lo joined the Group in 2002. He had over 19 years of experience in the retail industry. He previously

held senior positions at Makro Taiwan, Dong Yu Distribution Company Limited (presently known as RT-Mart

International Company Limited) which is a Taiwan-based retail operator. He joined Ruentex Group in 1996 as a deputy

general manager, and was instrumental to the establishment of RT-Mart International Company Limited in Taiwan and

Shanghai. Mr Lo has held the position of general manager of Shanghai RT-Mart Company Limited between 1997 and

2002.

Mr Lau Siu Ki, Kevin, aged 49, is the Company secretary of the Company. Mr Lau is a fellow member of both the

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants as well as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr

Lau joined the Group in June 2007.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) believes that corporate governance is essential to the success

of the Company and has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard of corporate governance is

maintained. Since the listing of its shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on

16 July 2007 (the “Listing Date”), the Company has applied the principles and complied with the requirements of the

Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code on CGP”) listed out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The current practices will be reviewed and updated

regularly to follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited has been appointed as the Compliance Advisor of the

Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises:

Executive Directors

Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth, GBS, CBE, JP (Chairman)

Mr Gao Chunhe (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas

Mr Wong See Leung

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Chan Wing Kee, GBS, OBE, JP

Mr Ting Woo Shou, Kenneth, SBS, JP

Mr Lau Yuen Sun, Adrian

Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth is the father of Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas.

Except for the above, the Board members have no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships

with one another. The Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills and

experience of the Group as the executive Directors possess extensive experience in managing and operating retail

chain and business as a whole; as well as financial control and management. The Board composition has also met the

recommended practice under the Code on CGP for the Board to have at least one-third in number of its members

comprising Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report Continued

The Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a period of one year. They possess appropriate

professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. Having made specific enquiry

with all Independent Non-executive Directors, all such Directors confirmed that they have met the criteria of Rule 3.13

of the Listing Rules regarding the guidelines for assessment of independence.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in pages 8 to 11 of this Annual Report.

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate fullest possible attendance. At least 14 days notice of

all board meetings is given to all Directors and they can include matters for discussion in the agenda if the need arises.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures that all relevant rules

and regulations are followed. The agenda and the accompanying board papers are sent to all Directors at least 3 days

before the date of every board meeting so that the Directors have the time to review the documents.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2007, two full board meetings have been held and both

meetings were attended by all Directors.

Every Board member is entitled to have access to board papers and related materials and has unrestricted access to

the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so

required. The Company Secretary continuously updates all Directors on the latest development of the Listing Rules

and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance

practice.

The Board is responsible for formulating overall strategy, monitoring and controlling the performance of the Group. In

addition to its overall supervisory role, the Board also retains specific responsibilities such as approving specific senior

appointments, approving financial accounts, recommending dividend payments, approving policies relating to the

Board’s compliance, etc whilst managing the Group’s business is the responsibility of the management of the Group

(the “Management”).

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration functions to the Management, it has given

clear directions, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the Management shall report back and obtain

prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated and assumed by separate individuals who

have no relationship with each other, to strike a balance of power and authority so that the job responsibilities are not

concentrated on any one individual. The Chairman focuses on overall corporate development and strategic direction

of the Group, and provides leadership for, and oversees the effective functioning of, the Board. The Chief Executive

Officer is responsible for the day-to-day corporate management as well as planning and developing the Group’s

strategy.
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Corporate Governance Report Continued

Nomination of Directors

The Company does not have a Nomination Committee. The Board as a whole is responsible for the procedure of

agreeing to the appointment of its members and for nominating appropriate person for election by shareholders at the

annual general meeting, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors.

According to the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”), notice in writing of the intention to propose a

person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been

lodged at the Head Office or at the Registration Office of the Company at least seven days before the date of the general

meeting, or else no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be

eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting.

The period for lodgment of the notices referred to above will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of

the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such

general meeting.

Since the Listing Date, no new members have been appointed to the Board.

The detailed information on election of Directors including detailed biography of all Directors standing for election or

re-election to ensure shareholders to make an informed decision on their election will be set out in the circular

regarding, inter alia, the share repurchase mandate and notice of annual general meeting.

Retirement and Removal of Directors

According to the Articles, all Directors are subject to retirement from office at an annual general meeting at least once

every three years and will be eligible for re-election. The office of a Director is liable to be vacated in certain

circumstances and the Company may remove any Director by an ordinary resolution at a general meeting.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board establishes committees to assist it in carrying out its responsibilities. The Board has appointed 3 Board

committees i.e. the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nantong Times Property Committee to oversee

particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each of the committees has defined terms of reference setting out its duties,

powers and function. The committees report regularly to the Board and, where appropriate, make recommendations

on matters discussed.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr Ting Woo Shou, Kenneth and Mr Lau Yuen Sun, Adrian, both Independent

Non-executive Directors, and Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth, Chairman of the Board. Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth, was appointed

as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The written terms of reference stipulating the authority and duties of the

Remuneration Committee conform to the provisions of the Code on CGP.
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The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. To formulate and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy for the Directors and senior

management.

2. To recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors (including Non-executive

Directors) and senior management and to determine their remuneration package.

3. To consider the annual performance of the Executive Directors and senior management and recommend to the

Board bonus payments and specific adjustments in remuneration.

4. To ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year. A meeting was held during the period from the Listing

Date to 31 December 2007. All three members of the Remuneration Committee attended the meeting. During the

meeting, the overall pay trend in the People’s Republic of China was noted and the remuneration of the senior

management team was reviewed accordingly. The overall remuneration structure of the Directors and senior

management was also discussed and reviewed.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the three Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr Lau Yuen Sun, Adrian, was

appointed as Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

1. To consider the appointment of the external auditors, the audit fees, and any questions of resignation or dismissal

of the external auditors of the Group.

2. To review and monitor the independence of the external auditors and to discuss with them the nature and scope

of the audit.

3. To review the interim and annual financial statements before submission to the Board.

4. To review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices.

5. To review the external auditors’ management letters and management’s response.

6. To review the Group’s systems of financial controls, internal controls and risk management to ensure that they

are appropriate and functioning properly.

7. To consider any findings of major investigations of internal control matters and management’s response.
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The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Two meetings were held during the period from the Listing Date

to 31 December 2007. Both meetings were attended by all the members of the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee had performed the following:

(i) reviewed the interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2007;

(ii) reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(iii) reviewed the external auditors’ statutory audit plan and engagement letter;

(iv) discussed with the management the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group, including the findings in

an internal control review performed during the year; and

(v) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board the scope and fees of the audit for the year ended 31

December 2007.

Nantong Times Property Committee

The Nantong Times Property Committee comprises the three Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr Lau Yuen Sun,

Adrian, was appointed as Chairman of the Nantong Times Property Committee.

The major roles and functions of the Nantong Times Property Committee are as follows:

1. To review all transactions between the Group and Nantong Times Property Co Ltd (“Nantong Times Property”)

to ensure that they are conducted on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course of business

of the Group and to recommend to the Board the corrective measures in such transactions if needed or not to

proceed with such transactions;

2. To establish, where applicable, guidelines for Management to follow in the ongoing transactions between the

Group and Nantong Times Property;

3. To review and assess ongoing relationships between the Group and Nantong Times Property to ensure

compliance with the established guidelines and to ensure the continuation of such relationship remains fair to the

Group; and

4. To analyze and assess any potential conflict of interests between the Group and Nantong Times Property.

Nantong Times Property was established in the People’s Republic of China and is owned beneficially as to 60% by

Fang Brothers Investments Limited, a company indirectly controlled by Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth, Mr Fang Chiu,

Laurence and Mr Fang Kang, Vincent, and as to 40% by an independent third party. Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth, Mr Fang

Chiu, Laurence and Mr Fang Kang, Vincent are the controlling shareholders of the Company.
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The Nantong Times Property Committee shall meet regularly every six months or whenever any significant issue in

relation to the Group’s transactions with Nantong Times Property arises. No meeting has been held during the period

from the Listing Date to 31 December 2007. Subsequent to 31 December 2007, a meeting was held in which all

members of the Nantong Times Property Committee attended. During the meeting the nature and volume of the

transactions between the Group and Nantong Times Property for the year ended 31 December 2007 as well as the

guidelines governing those transactions were reviewed.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Messrs Deloitte Touche

Tohmatsu, is set out as follows:

Services rendered

Fees paid and

payable

HK$

Audit services 2,856,000

Non audit services (listing) 5,291,000

8,147,000

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board and senior management are responsible for establishing, maintaining and operating an effective system

of internal control. The internal control system of the Group comprises a well-established organizational structure and

comprehensive polices and standards. The Board has clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each

business and operational unit to ensure adequate checks and balances.

During the year the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. The Board is of

the view that the system of internal controls in place for the year under review is sound and sufficient to safeguard the

interests of shareholders, customers and employees, as well as the Group’s assets.

The Management assists the Board in the implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk and control

by identifying and assessing the risks faced, and involving in the design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal

controls to mitigate and control these risks.
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The key processes that have been established in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system of internal controls

include the following:

(i) The Management, led by the Executive Directors, ensures the effectiveness of the Group’s daily operations and

that the Group’s operations are in accordance with the corporate objectives, strategies and the annual budget as

well as the policies and business directions that have been approved.

(ii) The Audit Committee of the Company reviews internal control issues identified by external auditors, regulatory

authorities and Management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems.

(iii) The Remuneration Committee ensures that all the Directors and the senior management of the Group are

remunerated in line with market terms and individual performance.

(iv) The Nantong Times Property Committee ensures that the transactions between the Group and Nantong Times

Property are entered into under normal commercial terms in accordance with established guidelines.

(v) The corporate reporting functions are delegated to the accounting department in terms of proper and regular

reviews on the deployment of resources and financial reporting systems. The corporate governance practices and

compliance with the Listing Rules, Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and

other applicable regulations are delegated to the company secretarial department. The Management reviews the

system of internal controls and briefs the reporting systems with the Executive Directors regularly and the Audit

Committee annually.

(vi) Every newly appointed Director would be provided with a comprehensive handout detailing the responsibilities

and duties of being a director of the Company. In particular all newly appointed Directors would be briefed of the

respective applicable rules and regulation, including the Listing Rules, which a director should be aware of on the

first occasion of his appointment with the Company.

(vii) The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions as set out in the Model

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model

Code”). A copy of the Model Code was sent to each Director and the relevant employees of the Group who are

required to be provided under the Model Code. Enquiries have been made with Directors and all the Directors

have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the

period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2007.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of accounts of each financial period, which give a true

and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing the accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2007, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and have applied them

consistently, adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards

which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial statements, made judgments and estimates that are

prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on the going concern basis.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining on-going communication with the shareholders. During 2007, the

Company has engaged a professional public relation consultancy firm to organize various investor relation programs

aiming at increasing its transparency, enhancing communication, increasing investors’ understanding of and

confidence in the Group’s business. It also aims at building investors’ confidence in the Group’s future developments

and promoting market recognition and support to the Company.

As a channel of further promoting effective communication, the corporate website is maintained to disseminate the

relevant financial and non-financial information on a timely basis.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. It is expected

that Chairman of the Board as well as the Chairmen of various committees of the Board will be present in the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting to answer shareholders’ questions.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of Times Ltd (the

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2007.

GROUP REORGANIZATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability

under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Laws of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 15 March

2007.

Pursuant to a corporate reorganisation in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company became the holding company of the Group on 26 June

2007 by issuing shares in exchange for the entire share capital of Times Supermarket Ltd.. Details of the Corporate

Reorganisation are set out in the prospectus dated 29 June 2007 issued by the Company (the “Prospectus”).

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Stock Exchange since 16 July 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in

note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 are set out in the consolidated income statement on

page 30 of the consolidated financial statements.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK3.18 cents (equivalent to approximately RMB2.98 cents

at year end exchange rate) per share for the year ended 31 December 2007 to the shareholders whose names appear

on the register of members on 20 May 2008, amounting to RMB 26,045,000 and the retention of the remaining profit

for the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to

the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

No option has been granted under the Company’s share option scheme since its adoption on 26 June 2007.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2007, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders were as follows:

RMB’000

Share premium 940,390

Accumulated losses (53,424)

886,966

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is distributable to the shareholders of

the Company provided that immediately following the date on which any dividend is proposed to be distributed, the

Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth (appointed on 15 March 2007)

Mr Gao Chunhe (appointed on 15 March 2007)

Mr Wong See Leung (appointed on 15 March 2007)

Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas (appointed on 15 March 2007)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr Chan Wing Kee (appointed on 26 June 2007)

Mr Ting Woo Shou, Kenneth (appointed on 26 June 2007)

Mr Lau Yuen Sun, Adrian (appointed on 26 June 2007)

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Mr Fang Hung, Kenneth, Mr Gao Chunhe, Mr Wong

See Leung, Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas, Mr Chan Wing Kee, Mr Ting Woo Shou, Kenneth and Mr Lau Yuen Sun, Adrian

will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company commencing from 16 July 2007

(the date on which the shares of the Company first commenced dealings in the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Date”))

for a term of three years which is terminable by either party by giving three months’ notice in writing.

Each independent non-executive director has entered into a letter of engagement with the Company for a term of one

year commencing from the Listing Date and renewable by mutual agreement on annual basis.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with

the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2007, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executives of the Company in the

share capital, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations within the meaning of

Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as recorded in the register required to be kept under

section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code

for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) are as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company (“Shares”)

Approximate

Percentage of

Name of Director Type of Interest Number of Shares Shareholding

(%)

Fang Hung, Kenneth Corporate interest 631,800,000 72.29

(“Mr Kenneth Fang”)

Note: These shares were held by CS International Investment Limited (“CS International”), a company incorporated in the British

Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and is owned as to 51% by Loyson Pacific Limited (“Loyson Pacific”) and 49% by Lenstar Global Limited

(“Lenstar Global”). Loyson Pacific is a company incorporated in the BVI and is beneficially owned as to 45% by Mr Kenneth

Fang, 45% by Fang Chiu, Laurence (“Mr Laurence Fang”) and 10% by Fang Kang, Vincent (“Mr Vincent Fang”). Mr Kenneth

Fang, Mr Laurence Fang and Mr Vincent Fang are brothers who collectively control Loyson Pacific. Lenstar Global is a

company incorporated in the BVI and is entirely and beneficially owned by Mr Kenneth Fang.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, none of the directors or chief executives of the Company had any

interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated

corporation (within the meaning of Part xv of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section

352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2007, the following persons (not being a director or a chief executive of the Company) have

interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to

be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in Shares

Approximate

Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Type of Interest Number of Shares Shareholding

(%)

Mr Laurence Fang(i) Corporate interest 631,800,000 72.29

Mr Vincent Fang(i) Corporate interest 631,800,000 72.29

Loyson Pacific(i) Corporate interest 631,800,000 72.29

Lenstar Global(ii) Corporate interest 631,800,000 72.29

CS International(iii) Beneficially owned 631,800,000 72.29

Commonwealth Bank of Australia(iv) Corporate interest 44,131,000 5.05

Notes:

(i) Loyson Pacific is a company incorporated in the BVI and is beneficially owned as to 45% by Mr Kenneth Fang, 45% by Mr

Laurence Fang and 10% by Mr Vincent Fang. Mr Kenneth Fang, Mr Laurence Fang and Mr Vincent Fang are brothers who

collectively control Loyson Pacific.

(ii) Lenstar Global is a company incorporated in the BVI and is entirely and beneficially owned by Mr Kenneth Fang.

(iii) CS International is a company incorporated in the BVI and is owned as to 51% by Loyson Pacific and 49% by Lenstar Global.

(iv) According to the information disclosed to the Company under Part XV of the SFO, these shares were held by corporations

controlled directly and indirectly as to 100% by Commonwealth Bank of Australia.

Save as disclosed above, the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 December

2007, the Company had not been notified of any other person who had an interest or short position in the shares and

underlying shares of the Company.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the

directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company

or any other body corporate.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the following connected transactions were recorded:

Transactions with Nantong Times Property Co Ltd (“Nantong Times Property”)

On 18 June 2007, Jiangsu Times Supermarket Co Ltd (“Jiangsu Times”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,

entered into a management agreement (the “Management Agreement”) with Nantong Times Property for a term of 3

years. In accordance with the terms of the Management Agreement:

(i) The Group provided management and operation services to Nantong Times Property in respect of the latter’s

supermarket located at 57 Ren Min Dong Lu, Nantong, Jiangsu Province, The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)

(the “Subject Supermarket”) and is entitled to receive a monthly management fee equal to 0.2% of the total

monthly turnover of the Subject Supermarket. The total management fee received or receivable from Nantong

Times Property during the year amounted to approximately RMB110,000.

(ii) The Group supplied to Nantong Times Property at cost various marketing materials including general packaging

and wrapping materials. The aggregate amount of marketing materials supplied by the Group to Nantong Times

Property during the year amounted to approximately RMB1,024,000.

(iii) The Group supplied to Nantong Times Property at cost various merchandise comprising items for sale at the

Subject Supermarket. The aggregate amount of such merchandise supplied by the Group to Nantong Times

Property during the year amounted to approximately RMB91,659,000.

Nantong Times Property was established in the PRC and is owned beneficially as to 60% by Fang Brothers Investments

Limited (“Fang Brothers”), a company indirectly controlled by Mr Kenneth Fang, Mr Laurence Fang and Mr Vincent

Fang, and as to 40% by an independent third party. Mr Kenneth Fang, Mr Laurence Fang and Mr Vincent Fang are the

controlling shareholders of the Company. In order to avoid any potential competing and conflict of interest between

the Group and Nantong Times Property, the Group has implemented the following measures:

(i) All executive directors would excuse themselves from the board meeting whenever any discussion is held and

abstain from voting on any board resolution that concern the operation and management of Nantong Times

Property and / or any alteration of the terms of the Management Agreement.

(ii) The Group has established a committee known as Nantong Times Property Committee (the “Committee”) which

will meet regularly every six months and whenever any issue or material amendment of the Management

Agreement arises. The members of the Committee shall be appointed by the board and shall all be independent

non-executive directors of the Company. The Committee’s duties include the following:

a. Review all transactions (including material amendments to the Management Agreement) between the Group

and Nantong Times Property to ensure that they are conducted on normal commercial terms and in the

ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and to recommend to the Board the corrective measures

in such transactions if needed or not to proceed with such transactions;
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b. Establish, where applicable, guidelines for management to follow in its ongoing transactions between the

Group and Nantong Times Property;

c. Review and assess ongoing relationships between the Group and Nantong Times Property to ensure

compliance with the Committee’s guidelines and to ensure the continuation of such relationship remains fair

to the Group; and

d. Analyze and assess any potential conflict of interests between the Group and Nantong Times Property.

The Committee has met recently and concluded that:

(i) The terms indicated in the Management Agreement was entered into after arm’s length negotiation between

Jiangsu Times and Nantong Property Times Property;

(ii) The transactions between Nantong Times Property and Jiangsu Times for the year ended 31 December 2007 are

fair and in the usual course of business and in accordance with the Management Agreement;

(iii) There has been no potential conflict of interest between the Group and Nantong Times Property required to be

reported to the Board and shareholders; and

(iv) Given the present arrangement and updated information provided to the Committee, the Committee does not

consider that any additional guidelines for management be necessary.

Transaction with Core Post Company Limited (“Core Post”)

On 1 June 2007, the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with Core Post pursuant to which the Company leased

certain premises as it’s office in Hong Kong for a term of one year. During the year the Group paid HK$35,000

(equivalent to approximately RMB34,000) to Core Post as rental.

Core Post is a Hong Kong incorporated company which is indirectly controlled by Mr Kenneth Fang, Mr Laurence Fang

and Mr Vincent Fang, the controlling shareholders of the Company.

Transaction with 南通輝騰置業有限公司 (“Nantong Fightingale”)

On 18 June 2007, Jiangsu Times entered into a lease agreement with Nantong Fightingale pursuant to which the Group

leased certain premises from Nantong Fightingale for its hypermarket operations for a term of 3 years. During the year

the Group paid a total amount of RMB1,000,000 to Nantong Fightingale as lease payments.

Nantong Fightingale is owned as to 98.25% by Fightingale Estates Limited, a company beneficially owned by Mr

Kenneth Fang and Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas, and 1.75% by 南通中誠實業有限公司 (Nantong Zhong Cheng

Corporation Limited), a company controlled by Mr Gao Chunhe. Mr Kenneth Fang, Mr Fang Yan Tak, Douglas and Mr

Gao Chunhe are all directors of the Company.
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Except for the supply of merchandise to Nantong Times Property, all the other connected transactions disclosed above

are qualified as “de minimis transactions” pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and are exempt from all the reporting, announcement and independent

shareholders’ approval requirement. The supply of merchandise to Nantong Times Property (the “Transaction”)

contemplated under the Management Agreement was classified as a non-exempt continuing connected transaction

which will be subject to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under Rule 14A.35 of

the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board of directors engaged the auditor of the

Company to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in respect of the Transaction whether the Transaction:

(a) has received the approval of the Board of directors;

(b) has been entered into in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement governing such transactions;

(c) has not exceeded the relevant cap amount for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 as set out in the

Prospectus, and

(d) has been entered into in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group as set out in the Prospectus.

The auditor has reported its factual findings on these procedures in respect of the Transaction to the Board of directors.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the

Transactions have been entered into by the Company in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal

commercial terms, and in accordance with the terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and

reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Other than as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions

in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and no contracts of significance to which the Company or any

of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr Kenneth Fang, Mr Laurence Fang and Mr Vincent Fang (each a “Non-Compete Covenantor”) has entered

into a deed of non-competition (the “Non-competition Deed”) dated 26 June 2007 in favour of the Company, pursuant

to which each Non-Compete Covenantor has unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken to and covenanted with the

Company (for itself and as trustee for each of the other members of the Group) that as long as (i) the securities of the

Company are and remain listed on the Stock Exchange and (ii) such Non-Compete Covenantor and / or his associate(s)

is / are a controlling shareholder of the Company:

(a) He shall not, and shall procure that none of his / its associates (other than the Group) shall, carry on, participate

or be engaged, concerned or interested, directly or indirectly (other than his interest in the Company and Nantong

Times Property), in the business of the operation and management of hypermarkets and supermarkets in the PRC

which competes or may compete directly with the business currently carried on by the Group unless and until the

Group ceases to carry on or be engaged in such business;
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(b) So long as he and his associates can control a majority of the board of, or are beneficially interested in more than

50% of the equity interests in, Nantong Times Property, he shall use his best endeavours to (i) procure that

Nantong Times Property shall only operate in the current sales area and shall not increase or expand its scale

of operation beyond the scale of operation existing as at the date of the Non-competition Deed; and (ii) procure

the sale by Fang Brothers of its entire interests in Nantong Times Property to the Group when requested by the

Company upon Fang Brothers or other associates of the Non-Compete Covenantors becoming the owner of the

entire equity interests in Nantong Times Property; and (iii) use his / their best endeavours to procure Fang

Brothers and the other owner of Nantong Times Property shall offer the Group the first right to acquire the business

of Nantong Times Property in the event that Nantong Times Property wishes to sell such business.

The Company has received from each Non-Compete Covenantor’s annual declaration on whether he has complied

with the Non-competition Deed. The independent non-executive directors have confirmed that they are not aware of

any instance where the Non-competition Deed has not been complied with.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers

accounted for less than 30% of the total sales and purchases for the year, respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group mainly determines staff remuneration in accordance with market terms and individual qualifications.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the board of directors, as authorised by the

shareholders at the annual general meeting, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance

and comparable market statistics.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the

Company during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association, or laws of the Cayman

Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set

out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the period commencing 16 July 2007 (being the date on which the

shares of the Company first commenced dealings in the Stock Exchange) to 31 December 2007.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting

than the required standard set out in the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made

specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, all directors confirmed that they had complied with the required

standard set out in the Model Code during the period commencing 16 July 2007 (being the date on which the shares

of the Company first commenced dealings in the Stock Exchange) to 31 December 2007.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of his

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive

directors are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 have been reviewed by the Audit

Committee of the Company, who are of the opinion that such statements comply with the applicable accounting

standards and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the directors, the directors

confirm that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the period

commencing on 16 July 2007 (being the date on which the shares of the Company first commenced dealings in the

Stock Exchange) to 31 December 2007.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting to approximately RMB1,528,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor

of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Fang Hung, Kenneth

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2008
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE MEMBERS OF TIMES LTD.

（時代零售集團有限公司）
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Times Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 30 to 69, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31
December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report
our opinion solely to you, as a body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at
31 December 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
27 March 2008
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For the year ended 31 December 2007

Consolidated Income Statement

NOTES 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 6 3,381,954 2,828,645

Cost of sales (2,826,059) (2,367,214)

Gross profit 555,895 461,431

Other income 8 293,806 233,404

Selling and distribution costs (582,140) (483,287)

Administrative expenses (83,431) (75,547)

Other expenses 9 (21,621) —

Finance costs 10 (15,665) (17,259)

Profit before taxation 146,844 118,742

Taxation 11 (62,189) (41,224)

Profit for the year 12 84,655 77,518

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 84,655 77,558

Minority interests — (40)

84,655 77,518

Dividends 15 26,045 55,187

Earnings per share

Basic (RMB) 16 0.114 0.123
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
At 31 December 2007

NOTES 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 17 663,769 359,723

Prepaid lease payments 18 267,724 —

Prepaid lease rentals 19 69,384 84,836

Deposits for acquisition of property, plant

and equipment 30,484 21,610

Deferred tax assets 20 10,327 8,445

1,041,688 474,614

Current assets

Inventories 21 574,792 422,085

Trade and other receivables 22 109,260 70,827

Prepaid lease payments 18 7,572 —

Prepaid lease rentals 19 113,902 60,635

Amount due from immediate holding company 23 — 8

Pledged bank deposits 24 4,916 10,514

Bank balances and cash 25 521,592 215,456

1,332,034 779,525

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 26 1,159,100 844,588

Amount due to a related company 27 — 22

Amount due to then ultimate holding company 27 — 81,848

Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 27 — 6,534

Tax liabilities 24,194 9,571

Bank borrowings 28 30,000 202,000

1,213,294 1,144,563

Net current assets (liabilities) 118,740 (365,038)

Total assets less current liabilities 1,160,428 109,576
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Consolidated Balance Sheets Continued

NOTES 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital and reserves

Share capital 29 8,478 8

Reserves 1,151,950 47,605

Total equity 1,160,428 47,613

Non-current liability

Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 27 — 61,963

1,160,428 109,576

The consolidated financial statements on pages 30 to 69 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 27 March 2008 and are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Fang Hung, Kenneth Wong See Leung
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Statutory

Statutory public Enterprise

Share Share surplus welfare development Special Accumulated Minority

capital premium reserve fund fund reserve profits Total interests Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note a) (Note b) (Note b)

At 1 January 2006 — — 6,304 5,321 — 23,665 39,032 74,322 1,269 75,591

(Note c)

Profit for the year and total recognised

income for the year — — — — — — 77,558 77,558 (40 ) 77,518

Distribution to minority shareholder

upon liquidation of a subsidiary — — — — — — — — (1,229 ) (1,229 )

Appropriations — — 7,871 787 3,149 — (11,807 ) — — —

Issue of shares (note d) 8 — — — — — — 8 — 8

Dividends paid — — — — — — (55,187 ) (55,187 ) — (55,187 )

Deemed distribution (note e) — — — — — (49,088 ) — (49,088 ) — (49,088 )

At 31 December 2006 8 — 14,175 6,108 3,149 (25,423 ) 49,596 47,613 — 47,613

Profit for the year and total recognised

income for the year — — — — — — 84,655 84,655 — 84,655

Issue of shares 2,350 978,703 — — — — — 981,053 — 981,053

Capitalisation issue (note 29 (e)) 5,643 (5,643 ) — — — — — — — —

Transaction costs attributable to issue

of shares — (32,670 ) — — — — — (32,670 ) — (32,670 )

Shareholder’s contribution (note 27) — — — — — 79,777 — 79,777 — 79,777

Reserve arising from corporate

reorganisation  (note f) 477 — — — — (477 ) — — — —

Appropriations — — 10,829 1,083 4,332 — (16,244 ) — — —

At 31 December 2007 8,478 940,390 25,004 7,191 7,481 53,877 118,007 1,160,428 — 1,160,428
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Continued

Notes:

(a) The Articles of Association of the subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) require

the appropriation of 10% of its profit after taxation (prepared under the generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC)

each year to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered share capital. According to the

provisions of the Articles of Association of the PRC incorporated companies comprising the Group, in normal circumstances,

the statutory surplus reserve shall only be used for making good losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of

its production and operation. Such appropriations are made on an annual basis at the end of each financial year.

(b) Pursuant to the PRC Company Law, the subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in the PRC shall make an allocation to the

statutory public welfare fund and enterprise development fund from their profit after taxation (prepared under the generally

accepted accounting principles in the PRC) at a rate determined by directors of the relevant subsidiaries. The enterprise

development fund can be used for making good losses and capitalisation into paid-in-capital. Both the statutory public welfare

fund and the enterprise development fund form part of the shareholders’ equity but are non-distributable other than in

liquidation. Such appropriations are made on an annual basis at the end of each financial year.

(c) On 19 December 2005, Swift Harvest Limited (“Swift Harvest”) contributed RMB67,466,000 to Jiangsu Times Supermarket

Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Times”) and effectively diluted the interest of the existing beneficial equity owner, Fang Brothers

Investments Limited (“Fang Brothers”), in Jiangsu Times from 100% to 38%. Swift Harvest, with paid-in capital of HK$1,

became the then immediate holding company of Jiangsu Times. Special reserve amounted to RMB23,665,000 was resulted

from the corporate reorganisation. Fang Brothers is the controlling shareholders of both Swift Harvest and Jiangsu Times.

(d) On 18 July 2006, Times Supermarket Limited (“Times Supermarket”) issued 949 ordinary shares of US$1 each for total

consideration of US$949 (equivalent to approximately RMB8,000).

(e) The amount represents the consideration paid by Swift Harvest to Fang Brothers for acquiring the remaining 38% equity

interest in Jiangsu Times which is already included in the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the consideration

paid is deemed as a distribution to the controlling shareholder of the Company. The consideration paid for the acquisition of

the 38% in Jiangsu Times was determined with reference to the net asset value of Jiangsu Times as at 31 December 2005

as set out in a valuation report prepared by an independent valuer and was fully settled in April 2006.

(f) Pursuant to the share swap agreement entered between the Company and CS International Investment Limited (“CS

International”) on 26 June 2007, the Company allotted and issued 49,999,999 shares to CS International and credited the nil-

paid share issued on 15 March 2007 as fully paid as a consideration to acquire the entire interest in Times Supermarket from

CS International. The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the issued share

capital of Times Supermarket and the Company in the event of share swap.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

NOTE 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 146,844 118,742

Adjustments for:

Interest expense 15,665 17,259

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 59,593 52,842

Exchange gain — (4,809)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 729 1,421

Interest income (11,111) (2,047)

Prepaid lease payments charged to profit and loss 5,338 —

Prepaid lease rentals charged to profit and loss 76,738 95,806

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital 293,796 279,214

Increase in inventories (152,707) (20,071)

Increase in trade and other receivables (20,923) (40,357)

Increase in prepaid lease rentals (114,553) (111,357)

Increase in trade and other payables 283,410 136,044

Decrease in amounts due to a fellow subsidiary — (21,795)

Cash generated from operations 289,023 221,678

PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (50,181) (48,342)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 238,842 173,336

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of assets 34 (126,264) —

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (151,327) (81,885)

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant

and equipment (25,084) (21,610)

Payments for prepaid lease (19,263) —

Repayments from related companies 20,126 155,210

Repayment from ultimate holding company — 3,971
Repayment from immediate holding company 8 —

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

and equipment 687 2,177

Distribution to a minority shareholder upon

liquidation of a subsidiary — (1,229)

Interest received 11,111 2,047

Decrease (increase) in pledged bank deposits 5,598 (2,414)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (284,408) 56,267
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Continued

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from issue of shares 948,383 —

Repayment to a director (137,995) —

Repayments to related companies (200,453) (23,810)

Advance from ultimate holding company 397 81,848

Repayment to intermediate holding company — (57,999)

Repayment to a fellow subsidiary (68,497) (87,612)

Dividend paid — (55,187)

Deemed distribution — (49,088)

New bank borrowings raised 703,290 202,000

Repayment of bank borrowings (872,572) (176,991)

Interest paid (15,665) (17,259)

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING

ACTIVITIES 356,888 (184,098)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS 311,322 45,505

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

BEGINNING OF YEAR 215,456 169,951

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE

CHANGES (5,186) —

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash 521,592 215,456
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

1. GROUP RESTRUCTURING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited

liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Laws of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands

on 15 March 2007. Its immediate holding company and ultimate holding company are CS International and Loyson

Pacific Limited respectively. Both of them are limited companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The

addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are Cricket Square, Hutchins

Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and 4th Floor, 20-24 Kwai Wing Road, Kwai

Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong respectively.

Pursuant to a corporate reorganisation (the “Corporate Reorganisation”) in preparation for the listing of the

Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”), the

Company became the holding company of the Group on 26 June 2007 by issuing shares in exchange for the entire

share capital of Times Supermarket. Details of the Corporate Reorganisation are set out in the prospectus (the

“Prospectus”) dated 29 June 2007 issued by the Company.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Stock Exchange since 16 July 2007.

The Group resulting from the Corporate Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity. Accordingly, the

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006 and for the period from 1 January 2007

to 16 July 2007 have been prepared using the principles of merger accounting in accordance with Accounting

Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note

36.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency

of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new or revised Hong Kong Accounting

Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendment and interpretations (“HK(IFRIC) – INT(s)”) herein collectively referred to as

(“new HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, which were effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January

2007.

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital disclosures

HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures

HK (IFRIC) – INT 7 Applying the restatement approach under HKAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

HK (IFRIC) – INT 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC) – INT 9 Reassessment of embedded derivatives

HK(IFRIC) – INT 10 Interim financial reporting and impairment

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the results and financial position for the current

or prior accounting years have been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior year adjustment has been

required.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards or interpretations that have been issued

but are not yet effective.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial statements1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing costs1

HKFRS 8 Operating segments1

HK(IFRIC) – INT 11 HKFRS 2: Group and treasury share transactions2

HK(IFRIC) – INT 12 Service concession arrangements3

HK(IFRIC) – INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes4

HK(IFRIC) – INT 14 HKAS 19 - The limit on a defined benefit asset,

minimum funding requirements and their interaction3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these standards or interpretations will have no

material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and in accordance with

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial

statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out

below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities

controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern

the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income

statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity

therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original

business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses

applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the

interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an

additional investment to cover the losses.

Merger accounting for business combinations under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statement items of the combining businesses in

which the common control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the combining

entities or businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are consolidated using the existing book values from the

controlling party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in

the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of

common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated income statement includes the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from the

earliest date presented or since the date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the common

control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented as if the entities or businesses

had been combined at the previous balance sheet date or when they first came under common control, whichever

is shorter.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts

receivable for goods provided and services rendered in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales

related taxes.

Revenue from the sales of merchandise is recognised when the merchandise is delivered and title has passed.

Commissions from concessionaire sales are recognised upon the sale of goods by the relevant concessionaire

suppliers.

Rental income from leasing of shop premises is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant

lease.

Service income including promotion income, delivery service income and management fee income is recognised

when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and

at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts

through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in

the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income and expense that are taxable or

deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability

for current tax is calculated using tax rate that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet

date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and

is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all

taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable

profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities

are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting

profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Taxation – Continued

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the

asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except when it relates

to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the

functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing

on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies

are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Government grant

Government grants with no further related cost are recognised as income when they are unconditional and

become receivable and are reported separately as “other income”.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis

over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the

relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised

as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are considered separately for the purpose of lease

classification. To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land

are accounted for as operating leases.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in finance costs in the consolidated income statement in the

period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense when employees have

rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit

schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans

are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,

or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are stated at cost less subsequent

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment (other than construction

in progress) over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual value, using

the straight-line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production or

for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.

Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when

completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,

commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the derecognition of the asset

(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included

in the consolidated income statement in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

For the year ended 31 December 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Impairment on tangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is

any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable

amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised

estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount

that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal

of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average

method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when a group entity

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are

initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of

financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through

profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as

appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are mainly classified as loans and receivables. The accounting policies adopted in

respect of loans and receivables are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating

interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated

future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest

rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where

appropriate, a shorter period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not

quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables

(including trade and other receivables, amount due from immediate holding company, pledged bank deposits and

bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment

losses. (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. They are impaired

where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition,

the estimated future cash flows have been impacted. Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• the receivables become past due for a long period of time.

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment

on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s

past experience of collecting payments, observable changes in national or local economic conditions that

correlate with default on receivables.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence of impairment and is measured

as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows

discounted at the original effective interest rate. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was

recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the

carrying amount at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been

had the impairment not been recognised.

The carrying amount is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all loans and receivables with the exception

of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account (if any).

Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade

receivables is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Impairment of loans and receivables – Continued

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the substance of

the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting

all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are

set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating

interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated

future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts due to a related company/ultimate holding

company/a fellow subsidiary and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Expenses are accounted for as a deduction from equity to the extent they are incremental costs directly

attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have been avoided.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial

assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the

financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and

the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised

directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,

cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables (including bank balances and cash) 539,259 233,376

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 870,835 1,001,404

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade

and other payables and bank borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out

below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate bank borrowings (see note 28 for details

of these borrowings). The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy as the management considers the unsettled

bank borrowings are insignificant to the Group.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-rate bank balances and bank borrowings (see

note 28 for details of these borrowings), if any. The Group did not use any interest rate swaps to mitigate its

exposure associated with fluctuations relating to interest cash flows.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for the financial

instruments at the balance sheet date. For variable-rate bank balances and bank borrowings, the analysis is

prepared assuming the amounts of asset or liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding for

the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key

management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest

rates.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

If interest rate had been 50 basis points lower/higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit

for each of the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 would decrease/increase by approximately

RMB2,633,000 and RMB890,000 respectively.

In the opinion of the dirctors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is not necessarily representative of the

inherent cash flow interest rate risk as the year-end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the years.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have bank borrowings, bank balances and amount due to then ultimate

holding company denominated in Hong Kong dollar which is different from the functional currency of the

respective group entities. Hence, exposures to foreign exchange rate fluctuation arise. The Group has not entered

into any forward contract to hedge against its foreign currency exposure. However, the management of the Group

will consider to hedge these balances should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in Hong Kong dollar

at the balance sheet dates are as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank balances 155,639 —

Bank borrowings — 48,000

Amount due to then ultimate holding company — 81,848

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase/decrease in Renminbi against Hong Kong

dollar. The 5% change represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign currency rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in Hong Kong dollar and adjusts

their translations at the year end for a 5% change in Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar. The sensitivity analysis

includes the bank borrowings, bank balances and amount due to then ultimate holding company as their

denomination is in Hong Kong dollar. The following table indicates the change in profit for the year where

Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar.

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Decrease) increase in profit for the year (7,411)(i) 6,184(ii)
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on the Group’s bank balances denominated in Hong

Kong dollar at the year end.

(ii) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on bank borrowings and amount due to then ultimate

holding company which were denominated in Hong Kong dollar at the year end. Both amounts have been

fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2007.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is not necessarily representative of the

inherent foreign exchange risk as the year-end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the years.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations

as at the balance sheet dates in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of

those assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheets.

The major financial assets of the Group are pledged bank deposits and bank balances. The credit risk on liquid

funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-

rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with high credit

ratings, the Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables consist of

a large number of counterparties.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents

deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations

in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan

covenants.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built an

appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-

term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate

reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash

flows. As at 31 December 2007, the Group has available unutilised overdraft and short-term bank loan facilities

of approximately RMB174,548,000 (2006: RMB95,000,000).



49TIMES LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

For the year ended 31 December 2007

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies - Continued

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest

date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted
average Total Total

effective 31 to 91 to 181 to undiscounted carrying

interest rate 0-30 days 90 days 180 days 365 days 1-2 years cash flows amount

% RMB,000 RMB,000 RMB,000 RMB,000 RMB,000 RMB,000 RMB,000

As at 31 December 2007

Non-interest bearing — 326,491 497,437 4,487 12,420 — 840,835 840,835

Fixed interest rate

instruments 7.5 — — 30,548 — — 30,548 30,000

326,491 497,437 35,035 12,420 — 871,383 870,835

As at 31 December 2006

Non-interest bearing — 321,131 361,653 36,336 18,321 — 737,441 737,441

Variable interest rate

instruments 5.5 — — 49,302 — — 49,302 48,000

Fixed interest rate

instruments 6.1 15,037 — 40,933 102,309 66,223 224,502 215,963

336,168 361,653 126,571 120,630 66,223 1,011,245 1,001,404

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted

pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis or using prices from observable current market

transactions.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at

amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while

maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital

structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 28 and equity attributable

to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

The Group’s board of directors reviews the capital structure on a continuous basis. As a part of this review the

board of directors considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will

balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the raising of

new debt or the repayment of existing debt. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2006.

6. REVENUE

Revenue, which is also turnover of the Group, represents the amounts received and receivable for merchandise

sold by the Group to outside customers and the service income, less sales tax during the years. An analysis of

the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales of merchandise 3,295,857 2,750,728

Commissions from concessionaire sales (note) 86,097 77,917

3,381,954 2,828,645

Note:

The commissions from concessionaire sales are

analysed below:

Gross proceeds received from concessionaire sales 672,276 551,297

Commissions from concessionaire sales 86,097 77,917

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of hypermarkets and supermarkets in the PRC. Nearly all

identifiable assets of the Group are located in the PRC. Accordingly, no segmental analysis is presented.
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8. OTHER INCOME

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Promotion income 110,627 92,322

Rental income from leasing of shop premises 106,464 75,642

Government subsidies  (note a) 16,695 15,700

Delivery service income 28,935 25,132

Interest income on bank deposits 10,504 1,727

Interest income on amount due from a related company (note 35) 607 320

Indemnity income (note b) 7,713 6,091

Management fee income received from then ultimate

holding company (note c) (note 35) — 9,372

Exchange gain 7,425 4,809

Others 4,836 2,289

293,806 233,404

Notes:

(a) The amounts represent subsidies received from 南通經濟技術開發區財政局 for the purpose of encouraging the Group

to expand its retailing business. There are no conditions attached to the subsidies granted to the Group.

(b) The amount represented the indemnity received from the landlords and suppliers for early termination of leases and

breach of supply agreements respectively. The amount was determined in accordance with the terms of respective lease

and supply agreements.

(c) The management fee income represented remuneration received from S.C. Fang & Sons Company Limited (“S.C. Fang

& Sons”), the ultimate holding company of the Group prior to the completion of the Corporate Reorganisation, which

engaged the Group for advice and update on the real estate market condition in the PRC for the main purpose of

identifying property investment opportunities. In return for the provision of such services, S.C. Fang & Sons paid a

management fee to the Group to commensurate for the Group’s effort and contribution. It was calculated at 2.5% of the

total investment amount of relevant investment project successfully introduced and accepted by S.C. Fang & Sons. The

Group had ceased to provide such advisory services since 1 January 2007.

9. OTHER EXPENSES

The amount represents professional fees and other expenses related to the Listing. Pursuant to HKAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation, the transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a

deduction from equity to the extent they are directly attributable to the issuing of new shares. The remaining costs

are recognised as an expense when incurred.
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10. FINANCE COSTS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interests on

– bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years 14,446 10,785

– amount due to a fellow subsidiary wholly repayable

within five years (note 35) 833 6,474

– amount due to a related company wholly repayable

within five years (note 35) 386 —

15,665 17,259

11. TAXATION

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

The charge comprises PRC Enterprise Income Tax:

Current taxation 64,071 23,588

Deferred tax (credit) charge (note 20)

Current year (3,417) 17,636

Attributable to a change in tax rate 1,535 —

(1,882) 17,636

62,189 41,224

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at a tax rate of 33%, which is the prevailing tax rate in the PRC.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax

(the “New Law”) by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC

issued Implementation Regulations of the New Law. The New Law and Implementation Regulations will change

the tax rate from 33% to 25% for the PRC subsidiaries effective from 1 January 2008. The deferred tax balance

has been adjusted to reflect the tax rates that are expected to apply to the respective periods when the asset is

realised.
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11. TAXATION – CONTINUED

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement

as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation 146,844 118,742

Taxation at the domestic income tax rate of 33% 48,458 39,185

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 16,037 3,201

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (3,841) (1,588)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised — 426

Decrease in opening deferred tax asset resulting from

a decrease in the domestic income tax rate 1,535 —

Taxation for the year 62,189 41,224

The domestic income tax rate represents the tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is

substantially based.

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration 2,856 68

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 2,826,059 2,367,214

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 59,593 52,842

Operating lease rentals in respect of rented land

and premises 120,944 123,006

Prepaid lease payments charged to profit and loss 5,338 —

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 729 1,421

Staff costs:

Directors’ remuneration (note 13) 671 —

Salaries and other benefits 177,532 131,059

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 15,677 9,937

193,880 140,996
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 directors were as follows:

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Fang Mr. Fang

Hung, Yan Tak, Mr. Ting Mr. Lau

(“Mr. Kenneth (“Mr. Douglas Mr. Wong Mr. Gao Mr. Chan Woo Shan Yuan Sun,

Fang”) Fang”) See Leung Chunhe WingKee Kenneth Adrian Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees — 90 135 155 97 97 97 671

No emolument was paid to the then directors during the year ended 31 December 2006.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining

the Group or as compensation for loss of office and no directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any

emoluments.

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

All the five individuals with the highest emoluments during the year were employees of the Group. The

emoluments of the five individuals were as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 1,781 1,474

The emolument of each of the individuals for both years was within HK$1,000,000.
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15. DIVIDENDS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year — 55,187

Dividends proposed 26,045 —

Pursuant to the equityholders’ meeting dated 10 February 2006, Jiangsu Times declared dividends of

RMB55,187,000 for the year ended 31 December 2005, which were distributed to the then equity holders

according to their respective proportion of equity interests.

The final dividend of HK3.18 cents (equivalent to RMB2.98 cents) per share has been proposed by the directors

and is subject to approval by the shareholders in general meeting.

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share for each of the two years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 is

based on the consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the respective years and on the

number of shares as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Shares arising from Corporate Reorganisation (Note) 631,800,000 631,800,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares issued

on public floatation and exercise of over allotment option 111,791,096 —

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

the purpose of basic earnings per share 743,591,096 631,800,000

Note: The number of shares for the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share for each of the two years ended 31

December 2007 and 2006 is based on the assumption that the 50,000,000 shares issued and outstanding upon

Corporate Reorganisation had been outstanding as at beginning of the respective years and also has been adjusted

for the 581,800,000 shares issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue as disclosed in note 29(e).

There was no diluted earnings per share presented for both years as there were no potential ordinary shares

outstanding.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,

Construction Leasehold fixtures and Motor

in progress Building improvements equipment vehicles Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2006 — — 209,847 257,854 8,755 476,456

Additions — — 58,308 58,680 2,279 119,267

Disposals — — (6,677) (7,416) (1,053) (15,146)

At 31 December 2006 — — 261,478 309,118 9,981 580,577

Additions 25,146 3,783 55,780 86,287 1,941 172,937

Acquired on acquisition

of assets (note 34) — 177,101 — 15,017 — 192,118

Disposals — — (6,021) (9,518) (694) (16,233)

At 31 December 2007 25,146 180,884 311,237 400,904 11,228 929,399

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2006 — — 63,373 112,303 3,884 179,560

Charge for the year — — 23,415 28,099 1,328 52,842

Eliminated on disposals — — (4,904) (6,031) (613) (11,548)

At 31 December 2006 — — 81,884 134,371 4,599 220,854

Charge for the year — 4,406 21,986 31,809 1,392 59,593

Eliminated on disposals — — (6,021) (8,291) (505) (14,817)

At 31 December 2007 — 4,406 97,849 157,889 5,486 265,630

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2007 25,146 176,478 213,388 243,015 5,742 663,769

At 31 December 2006 — — 179,594 174,747 5,382 359,723

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than construction in progress) are depreciated on a

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining term of lease,or 35 years

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining term of lease

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9.5% - 24.3%

Motor vehicles 11.3% - 18%
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:

Leasehold land located in the PRC under medium-term leases 275,296 —

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Current assets 7,572 —

Non-current assets 267,724 —

275,296 —

19. PREPAID LEASE RENTALS

The amounts represent prepaid rentals to landlords for its shops and office premises in accordance with relevant

lease agreements.

20. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets recognised by the Group and movement thereon, during the

years:

Temporary Temporary

difference difference

arising from arising from

amortisation of accruals not

pre-operating Tax deductible for

expenses losses tax purpose Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2006 6,105 19,976 — 26,081

Credit (charge) to consolidated

income statement for the year 2,340 (19,976) — (17,636)

At 31 December 2006 8,445 — — 8,445

Credit to consolidated income

statement for the year 773 — 2,644 3,417

Effect of change in tax rate (1,535) — — (1,535)

At 31 December 2007 7,683 — 2,644 10,327

As at 31 December 2007 and 2006, the Group had no significant unprovided deferred taxation.
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21. INVENTORIES

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

At cost:

Merchandise for resale 559,840 405,791

Consumables 14,952 16,294

574,792 422,085

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days for bulk purchases by corporate customers with good

repayment history. The Group’s retail sales to customers are mainly conducted on cash basis, including payments

by cash and credit cards.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables at the balance sheet dates:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 -30 days 6,132 2,250

31 - 60 days 1,439 257

61 - 90 days 93 201

Over 90 days — 21

7,664 2,729

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 101,596 68,098

109,260 70,827

None of the Group’s trade and other receivables was past due or impaired at the balance sheet dates.

23. AMOUNT DUE FROM IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The deposits carried average effective interest rates of 0.72% (2006: 0.72%) per annum. The pledged bank

deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant bills payable included in trade payables.
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25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group with an original maturity of three months or less. At

31 December 2007, bank balances of approximately RMB155,639,000 (2006: Nil) were denominated in Hong

Kong dollar. These balances carried interest at an average interest rate of 3.3% per annum. The remaining

balances of approximately RMB324,927,000 (2006: RMB187,723,000) carried interest rates of 0.72% to 1.71%

(2006: 0.72% to 1.62%) per annum.

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills payables at the balance sheet dates:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 - 30 days 343,219 256,095

31 - 60 days 214,752 136,675

61 - 90 days 73,473 50,585

Over 90 days 69,942 119,947

701,386 563,302

Other payables, deposits and accrued charges 457,714 281,286

1,159,100 844,588

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purposes and ongoing costs. The

analysis of bills payables is as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Secured by pledged bank deposit (Note 24) 4,835 10,506

Unsecured 4,836 9,129

9,671 19,635
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27. AMOUNTS DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY/THEN ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY/A
FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

The amounts due to a related company,南通中誠實業有限公司 , and a fellow subsidiary, Hua Tai Garment Factory

Limited (“Hua Tai”), under current liabilities as at 31 December 2006 were unsecured, interest-free and were

repayable on demand. The beneficial shareholder of the related company was also the director of the Company.

The amount due to then ultimate holding company, S.C. Fang & Sons, (the “Debt”) as at 31 December 2006 was

unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Pursuant to the Corporate

Reorganisation, the Debt amounted to RMB79,777,000 was ultimately assigned to a subsidiary of the Company,

Times Supermarket, satisfied by issuing one share of Times Supermarket (“Share”) amounting to US$1 to the

immediate holding company, CS International. Details of the above are set out in the Prospectus. As a result of

this assignment, a surplus of approximately RMB79,777,000 over the nominal value of the Share was credited

to the equity of the Group as a shareholder ’s contribution.

The amount due to a fellow subsidiary, Hua Tai, under non-current liability as at 31 December 2006 was unsecured

and interest bearing at 5.5% per annum. The entire amount has been subsequently settled during the year.

28. BANK BORROWINGS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans at amortised cost, repayable within one year:

Secured — 77,000

Unsecured 30,000 125,000

30,000 202,000

As at 31 December 2007, all of the Group’s borrowings were denominated in Renminbi and carried average fixed

interest rate of 7.5% per annum.

As at 31 December 2006, the bank borrowings included bank loans denominated in Hong Kong dollar of

approximately RMB48,000,000, which carried interest rates of HIBOR plus 0.95% and effective interest rate at

5.5% per annum and were guaranteed by S.C. Fang & Sons. Such guarantee was subsequently released on 16

July 2007. The remaining bank borrowings were denominated in Renminbi and carried average fixed interest rate

of 6.4% per annum.

As at 31 December 2006, bank loans of RMB77,000,000 were secured by the properties and land use right owned

by related companies. The remaining bank loans were guaranteed by S.C. Fang & Sons, a fellow subsidiary and

related companies. The related companies are companies in which certain directors of the Company have

beneficial interests and controlling power. As at 31 December 2007, all these securities and guarantees granted

by related parties have been released.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

Par value

of each Number

ordinary share of shares Share capital

HK$ ’000 HK$’000 RMB’000

Ordinary shares

Authorised:

On date of incorporation (note a) 0.01 10,000 100 —

Increase on 26 June 2007 (note b) 0.01 1,490,000 14,900 —

At 31 December 2007 0.01 1,500,000 15,000 —

Issued:

1 share allotted and issued nil paid

on date of incorporation (note a) 0.01 — — —

Issue of shares on Corporate

Reorganisation (note c) 0.01 50,000 500 485

Issued on public flotation (note d) 210,600 2,106 2,043

Issued by capitalisation of the share

premium account (note e) 581,800 5,818 5,643

Exercise of over allotment option (note f) 31,590 316 307

At 31 December 2007 0.01 873,990 8,740 8,478
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29. SHARE CAPITAL – CONTINUED

Notes:

(a) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 March 2007 with an authorised share capital of

HK$100,000 divided into 10,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each. 1 share of HK$0.01 was issued nil paid to CS

International on date of incorporation.

(b) Pursuant to the written resolutions on 26 June 2007, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from

HK$100,000 to HK$15,000,000 by the creation of an additional of 1,490,000,000 shares.

(c) Pursuant to the share swap agreement entered between the Company and CS International on 26 June 2007, the

Company allotted and issued 49,999,999 shares to CS International and credited the nil-paid share issued on 15 March

2007 as fully paid in consideration to acquire the entire interest in Times Supermarket from CS International.

(d) On 16 July 2007, the Company issued 210,600,000 new shares pursuant to the Listing and the Company’s shares were

listed on the Stock Exchange on the same date.

(e) Pursuant to the written shareholder ’s resolutions passed on 26 June 2007, the Company allotted and issued an

aggregate of 581,800,000 shares by way of capitalisation from the amount standing to the credit of the share premium

account of the Company on 16 July 2007 amounting to HK$5,818,000, details of which are set out in the Prospectus.

(f) On 20 July 2007, an overallotment option of 31,590,000 shares was exercised by The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking

Corporation Limited, the sole global coordinator and sole bookrunner of the Listing.

(g) The share capital as at 31 December 2006 represents the issued share capital of Times Supermarket of US$950

(equivalent to approximately RMB8,000).

30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the balance sheet dates, the Group had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases which fall due as follows:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 113,053 104,246

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,095,978 843,463

Over five years 3,036,505 3,347,667

4,245,536 4,295,376

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its shop and office premises. Leases are

negotiated and rentals are fixed for average lease term of 15 years.



63TIMES LTD.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

For the year ended 31 December 2007

30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS – CONTINUED

The Group as lessor

At the balance sheet dates, the Group had contracted with tenants in respect of leasing of retail booths for the

following future minimum lease payments:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 94,805 60,217

In the second to fifth year inclusive 152,554 72,685

Over five years 76,319 19,817

323,678 152,719

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease term of one to twenty years.

31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of

property, plant and equipment contracted for but

not provided in the consolidated financial statements 98,725 20,160

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of

property, plant and equipment authorised but

not contracted for 9,857 —

32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC

government. The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs to the retirement

benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits

scheme is to make the specified contributions under the scheme.

The amounts of contributions made by the Group in respect of the retirement benefit scheme during each of the

two years are disclosed in note 12.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the written

resolutions of the shareholder of the Company passed on 26 June 2007 to recognise and acknowledge the

contributions of selected participants to the growth of the Group.

The board of directors (the “Board”) may, in its absolute discretion, offer to grant options to any executive and

employee of the Group, any director (including non-executive director and independent non-executive director)

and any consultant, adviser and/or agent of the Group whom the Board considered have contributed or will

contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must

not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date on which the shares of the

Company are listed on the Stock Exchange excluding the shares to be granted under the over-allotment option

which can be refreshed according to the Stock Option Scheme. The number of shares which may be issued upon

exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised at any time under the Stock Option Scheme

shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and which fall to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the

Share Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) to any individual in any 12-month period

up to the date of offer to grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of offer

to grant. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to issuance of a circular by the

Company and approval by the Company’s shareholders in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, options may be exercised, in whole or in part, at any time during

the period from the date of acceptance of an offer of the grant of such option to the earlier of the date on which

such option lapses and the tenth anniversary of the Share Option Scheme. No amount is payable on acceptance

of an offer of options.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of the

nominal value of the share; the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer; and the average closing

price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

No option has been granted since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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34. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS

The Group acquired certain properties through purchase of the entire equity interest of the following companies

(“Acquired Companies”):

Meili 南通輝騰置業

Name of company International Hong Fung Waho East Fine Wealthland Goldwell 有限公司 Total

Date of acquisition 6 March 8 March 12 March 8 March 8 March 8 March 26 September

2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007

Seller Trueway Mr. Woo Mr. Douglas Mr. Kenneth Mr. Kenneth Mr. Kenneth 淄博海澤房地產

Investment Lap Fu Fang Fang Fang Fang 開發有限公司

Limited (note 2) (note 3) (note 3) (note 3) (note 3)

(notes 1 & 3)

Consideration:

In RMB (‘000) 18,198 23,208 7,013 64,843 — 10,475 32,982 156,719

Net assets acquired (RMB’000):

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 25,596 57,722 9,682 52,981 — 46,137 — 192,118

Prepaid lease payments 9,079 33,467 22,303 102,031 25,363 7,639 54,222 254,104

Deposits paid for acquisition

of property, plant and

equipment — 5,400 — — — — — 5,400

34,675 96,589 31,985 155,012 25,363 53,776 54,222 451,622

Current assets

Prepaid lease payments 430 884 679 3,108 546 229 1,391 7,267

Other receivables 5 5,379 28 23 5 10 12,060 17,510

Amounts due from

related companies — 20,126 — — — — — 20,126

Bank balance and cash 231 4,568 1,192 2,497 512 1,676 19,779 30,455

666 30,957 1,899 5,628 1,063 1,915 33,230 75,358

Current liabilities

Amount due to a director (7,805 ) (40,010 ) (23,281 ) (38,875 ) (20,015 ) (8,009 ) — (137,995 )

Amounts due to

related companies — (45,732 ) (3,488 ) (53,489 ) (6,401 ) (36,863 ) (54,458 ) (200,431 )

Other payables (9,338 ) (18,296 ) (10 ) (3,193 ) (10 ) (243 ) (12 ) (31,102 )

Tax payable — (300 ) (92 ) (240 ) — (101 ) — (733 )

(17,143 ) (104,338 ) (26,871 ) (95,797 ) (26,426 ) (45,216 ) (54,470 ) (370,261 )

Net assets 18,198 23,208 7,013 64,843 — 10,475 32,982 156,719
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34. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS – CONTINUED

Notes:

(1) Mr. Kenneth Fang, is the sole director and shareholder of Trueway Investment Limited.

(2) Mr. Woo Lap Fu (“Mr. Woo”) is a senior officer of Hua Tai. Mr. Woo held the equity interest of Hong Fung as nominee for

Mr. Kenneth Fang.

(3) Mr. Douglas Fang and Mr. Kenneth Fang, are the directors of the Company.

The net cash used in acquisition of assets (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) amounted to approximately

RMB126,264,000.

The principal assets of the Acquired Companies are properties. The Group in substance acquired assets instead

of business. The consideration was fully settled in cash.

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the amounts due from/to related parties as set out in notes 23 and 27, during the years, the Group had

entered into the following significant transactions with related parties:

2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales to Nantong Times Property Co., Ltd (note a) 91,659 85,992

Supply to marketing materials to Nantong Times Property

Co., Ltd (note a) 1,024 1,177

Purchases from 南通中誠實業有限公司 (note b) 190 363

Management fee paid to 南通輝騰置業有限公司  (note b) 400 400

Facilities usage fee paid to 南通輝騰置業有限公司  (note b) 600 600

Rentals paid to

Meili International (note c) 167 1,000

Hong Fung (note c) 1,080 1,800

Waho (note c) 250 1,054

East Fine (note c) 1,266 490

Goldwell (note c) 467 1,249

南通輝騰置業有限公司 (note b) 1,000 1,000

4,230 6,593

Interest paid to Hua Tai (note a) 833 6,474

Interest paid to 南通中誠實業有限公司  (note b) 386 —

Interest received from 南通中誠實業有限公司  (note b) — 320

Interest received from 南通德誠房地產有限公司 (note b) 607 —

Management fee paid to S.C. Fang & Sons (note d) — 9,892

Management fee received from S.C. Fang & Sons (note 8) — 9,372

Management fee received from Nantong Times Property Co. Ltd. (note e) 110 —
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS – CONTINUED

Notes:

(a) Nantong Times Property Co., Ltd. and Hua Tai are fellow subsidiaries of the Group.

(b) These are related companies of the Group, in which certain directors of the Company have beneficial interests.

(c) These were related companies of which certain directors have controlling interest and were subsequently acquired by

the Group. Details are set out in note 34.

(d) The management fee paid represents the remuneration received by S.C. Fang & Sons in connection to provision of

financial management services and human resources management services rendered to the Group in 2006.

(e) During the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006, Jiangsu Times provided management and operation services to

Nantong Times Property Co., Ltd. in respect of its supermarket (“Supermarket”) located at 57 Ren Min Dong Lu, Nantong

without charging any fee until 18 June 2007. On 18 June 2007, the Group and Nantong Times Property Co., Ltd. entered

into a management agreement for a term of three years for the provision of management and operation services to the

Supermarket at a fee of 0.2% of the total monthly turnover of the Supermarket.

At 31 December 2006, certain related companies provided guarantees and securities for banking facilities

granted to the Group. Details are set out in note 28. The directors of the Company, Mr. Kenneth Fang, Mr. Douglas

Fang and Mr. Gao Chunhe, are also directors of these related companies.

In March 2007, the Group acquired the Acquired Companies, excluding 淄博奔達 , from the directors of the

Company with a consideration in aggregate of approximately RMB123,737,000. Details are set out in note 34.

On 8 March 2007 and 20 July 2007, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Branda International

and Fortune Trade from the director of the Company at an aggregate consideration of US$2.

The directors of the Company considered that the executive directors and the five highest paid individuals are the

key management of the Group, whose emoluments have been disclosed in notes 13 and 14 respectively.
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36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at the balance sheet dates are as follows:

Proportion

of ownership

Place of Issued and fully interest attributable

incorporation/ paid share capital/ to the Group

Name of the subsidiary establishment registered capital as at 31 December Principal activities

2007 2006

Times Supermarket* BVI US$951 100% 100% Investment holding

Swift Harvest Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

江蘇時代超市有限公司 # PRC RMB162,276,000 100% 100% Hypermarket and

Jiangsu Times supermarket

operations

Hong Fung Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Investment holding

Waho Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Investment holding

East Fine Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Investment holding

Wealthland Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Investment holding

Goldwell Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Investment holding

Fortune Trade BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding

Supreme Forum BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding

Wealth Concept BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding

Meili International BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding

Branda International BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding

Fine Spring Ltd. HK HK$10,000 100% — Inactive

Fine Port Ltd. HK HK$10,000 100% — Inactive

南通康豐置業有限公司 # PRC HK$35,000,000 100% — Property Investment

Nantong Kangfeng

Properties Limited**

南通康豐食儲有限公司 # PRC RMB10,000,000 100% — Property investment

Nantong Kangfeng

Storage Limited**
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36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY – CONTINUED

Proportion

of ownership

Place of Issued and fully interest attributable

incorporation/ paid share capital/ to the Group

Name of the subsidiary establishment registered capital as at 31 December Principal activities

2007 2006

諸暨德誠置業有限公司 # PRC US$3,000,000 100% — Property investment

Zhuji Decheng

Properties Limited**

南通耀東置業有限公司 # PRC US$5,000,000 100% — Property investment

Nantong Yaodong

Properties Limited**

南通富華置業有限公司 # PRC HK$20,000,000 100% — Property investment

Nantong Fuhua

Properties Limited**

池州市富業置業有限公司 # PRC RMB37,000,000 100% — Property investment

Chizho City Fuhua

Properties Limited**

南通金優置業有限公司 # PRC HK$22,500,000 100% — Property investment

Nantong Jinyou

Properties Limited**

南通美林置業有限公司 # PRC US$1,550,000 100% — Property investment

Nantong Meili

Properties Limited**

南通奔達置業有限公司 # PRC HK$8,000,000 100% — Property investment

Nantong Branda

Properties Limited**

南通富貿置業有限公司 # PRC HK$8,000,000 100% — Property investment

淄博奔達置業有限公司 # PRC RMB3,000,000 100% — Property investment

* Times Supermarket is directly held by the Company whereas the remaining subsidiaries are indirectly held by the

Company.

** The English names of these PRC incorporated entities are for identification purpose only.

# Wholly foreign owned and limited liability enterprise registered in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued and debt securities at the end of the year.
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RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2004 2005 2006 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover 1,982,626 2,353,564 2,828,645 3,381,954

Profit attributable to equity holders

of the Company 46,086 56,129 77,558 84,655*

* The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007 has been arrived at after

deducting listing expenses of approximately RMB21,621,000. Excluding such non-recurring listing expenses, the profit

attributable to equity holders of the Company would have been RMB106,276,000.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2004 2005 2006 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 822,980 1,241,919 1,254,139 2,373,722

Total liabilities 749,325 1,166,328 1,206,526 1,213,294

Total equity 73,655 75,591 47,613 1.160.428

Note:

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 March 2007 and became the holding company of the Group on 26 June

2007 as a result of a group reorganization as set out in the prospectus dated 29 June 2007 issued by the Company (the

“Prospectus”).

The results of the Group for each of the three years ended 31 December 2006 and the assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31

December 2004, 2005 and 2006 have been prepared on a combined basis as if the Group structure had been in existence throughout

the years concerned and have been extracted from the Prospectus.
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